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A THRICE-TOLD TALE

C.

The opinion in West Coast Hotel was read from the bench by
Chief Justice Hughes. Only ten months before, a majority of the
Court had held in Morehead that state minimum wage acts violated
the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 47 Because the
composition of the Court remained the same, these conflicting deci-
sions were possible only because Justice Roberts concluded that Wash-
ington's minimum wage law, unlike New York's, was constitutional.
Two weeks later, the Court determined in Jones & Laughlin Steel
that Congress acted pursuant to its constitutionally granted power to
regulate commerce among the several states by regulating the terms
and conditions of employment of manufacturing employees.48 This
decision seemed implicitly to overrule Carter v. Carter Coal Co.,49

which was decided less than one year earlier. The Court, again per
Chief Justice Hughes, largely ignored Carter, neither distinguishing
nor overruling its interpretation of the Commerce Clause. Justice
Roberts was again the only member of the Court to join fully with
the majority in both Carter and Jones & Laughlin Steel. In neither
West Coast Hotel nor Jones & Laughlin Steel did Justice Roberts
write an opinion explaining the abrupt shift in his voting posture.

Ill.

And now, with the shift by Roberts, even a blind man ought to see
that the Court is in politics, and understand how the Constitution is
"judicially" construed. It is a deep object lesson - a lurid demon-
stration - of the relation of men to the "meaning" of the Constitution.

FELIX FRANKFURTER TO FRANKLIN DELANO ROOSEVELT,

MARCH 30, I93750

Frankfurter's private reaction (publicly he remained silent, as he
had about FDR's plan) to the Court's decisions was immediate and
unsparing. In addition to his letter to FDR written the day after West
Coast Hotel was decided, Frankfurter wrote to Justice Harlan Fiske
Stone: "Roberts' somersault [is] incapable of being attributed to a
single factor relevant to the professed judicial process. Everything

The decisions in the Social Security Cases, broadly interpreting Congress's general welfare
power, were clearly a departure from the 1936 decision of United States v. Butler. See United
States v. Butler, 297 U.S. i, 68 (1936) (opinion of Roberts, J.) (holding unconstitutional a federal
statute subsidizing farmers to reduce their acreage and crops with funds exacted through a tax
on processors of agricultural commodities).

47 See supra p. 627.
48 See Jones & Laughlin Steel, 301 U.S. at 30-31.
49 298 U.S. 238 (1936).
50 Letter from Felix Frankfurter to Franklin D. Roosevelt, supra note 9, at 392.
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that he now subscribes to he rejected not only on June first last, but
as late as October twelfth when New York's petition for a rehearing
was denied .... x51 Two days later, replying to Justice Brandeis's
letter, which speculated that "[o]verruling Adkins' Case must give you
some satisfaction,"5 2 Frankfurter responded, "[i]t is characteristically
kind of you to think of the aspects of the Washington minimum wage
case that would give me some satisfaction, but, unhappily, it is one
of life's bitter-sweets and the bitter far outweighs the sweet."5 3 A day
after Jones & Laughlin Steel was decided, Frankfurter wrote to
Charles Wyzanski that "[t]o me it is all painful beyond words, the
poignant grief of one whose life has been dedicated to faith in the
disinterestedness of a tribunal and its freedom from responsiveness to
the most obvious immediacies of politics .. "54

A.

There were two immediate chronicles of the constitutional crisis
of 1937: The 168 Days by Joseph Alsop and Turner Catledge,55 and
The Supreme Court Crisis by Merlo Pusey.5 6 Alsop and Catledge's
book, published in 1938, is notable for its sympathy toward Roose-
velt's court-reorganization legislation. The moral of their book is that,
although the proposed legislation may have been defeated, "A Switch
in Time Saves Nine."57 For Alsop and Catledge, the minimum wage
and Jones & Laughlin Steel decisions of the Supreme Court resulted
less from the President's court-packing plan than from the Court's
bending to the political will of a newly and resoundingly reelected
President.58

Pusey's work, on the other hand, which was supported by the
American Bar Association and distributed to thousands of lawyers, is
a bill of complaints against President Roosevelt. Pusey argues that
an independent judiciary is the only institution that can protect the
United States from a "dictatorial regime,"5 9 and that the court-packing

51 Letter from Felix Frankfurter to Harlan F. Stone (Mar. 30, 1937), in LIVA BAKER, FELIX

FRANKFURTER i89-9o (1969).
52 Letter from Louis D. Brandeis to Felix Frankfurter (Mar. 29, 1937), in "HALF BROTHER,

HALF SON": THE LETTERS OF Louis D. BRANDEIS TO FELIX FRANKFURTER 594 (Melvin I.
Urofsky & David IV. Levy eds., iggi) [hereinafter HALF BROTHER, HALF SON].

S3 Letter from Felix Frankfurter to Louis D. Brandeis, (Mar. 31, 1937), in HALF BROTHER,
HALF SON, supra note 52, at 594 n.i.

54 MICHAEL E. PARRISH, FELIX FRANKFURTER AND His TIMES: THE REFORM YEARS 272
(1982) (quoting Letter from Felix Frankfurter to Charles Wyzanski (Apr. 13, 1937)).

$5 ALSOP & CATLEDGE, supra note i i.
56 MERLO J. PUSEY, THE SUPREME COURT CRISIS (1937).
57 ALSOP & CATLEDGE, supra note ii, at 135.
5s See id. at 20-2I, 135-40.
59 PUSEY, supra note 56, at 48.
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A THRICE-TOLD TALE

plan was an attack on the Court's independence. 60 Because his work
was published as an "instant history" in June 1937, however, Pusey
was unable to construct a legal defense of the Supreme Court's West
Coast Hotel and Jones and Laughlin Steel decisions. Instead, Pusey
was left parroting the reasoning of Chief Justice Hughes's opinions. 61

Pusey concluded, with respect to the decision in West Coast Hotel,
"[i]t is difficult to believe that their decision would have been different
if the President had not asked power to pack the Court. '62 Pusey
apparently was at a loss to explain the votes of Justice Roberts and
Chief Justice Hughes in favor of the National Labor Relations Act.63

"Were [Chief Justice Hughes and Justice Roberts] intimidated by the
Administration's assault upon the Court? Did they adjust their con-
victions in the hope of saving the Court from the ignominy of being
packed? These questions doubtless will never be answered."64 One
answer, however, was that to ask these questions reinforced the ne-
cessity of an independent judiciary. Pusey was unwilling to accept
the conclusion that politics affected the Court's decisions, but he was
nevertheless unable to provide constitutionally based reasons for the
Court's change of mind.

B.

Notwithstanding Pusey's opinions, for more than a decade and a
half, most studies of the constitutional crisis of 1937 concluded that
politics, in the form of FDR's reelection and his Court reorganization
plan, caused the Court to alter its voting pattern. The historians
Charles and Mary Beard ironically noted that the Court's decisions in
West Coast Hotel and Jones & Laughlin Steel "[t]o mere laymen ...
looked like a reversal of opinion." 65 Before taking a seat on the
Supreme Court, Robert H. Jackson authored The Struggle for Judicial

60 See id. at 44-46.
61 Pusey would later become Hughes's biographer. See MERLO J. PUSEY, CHARLES EvANS

HUGHES (2 vols. 1951).

62 PUSEY, supra note 56, at 51. Pusey based this conclusion solely on Hughes's statement

that, unlike counsel for Elsie Parrish in West Coast Hotel, counsel for New York in Morehead
asked only that the Court distinguish Morehead from Adkins rather than reconsider Adkins.
See West Coast Hotel v. Parrish, 300 U.S. 379, 389 (1937); PUSEY, supra note 56, at 49. This

was disingenuous on Chief Justice Hughes's part, because counsel for New York in Morehead
had asked for reconsideration of Adkins in its petition for certiorari, and counsel for Parrish
had largely urged the Court to distinguish rather than overrule both Adkins and Morehead.
See Appellee's Brief on the Law at 3-4, West Coast Hotel (No. 293), reprinted in 33 LANDMARK
BRIEFS AND ARGUMENTS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES: CONSTITUTIONAL

LAW 91 (Philip B. Kurland & Gerhard Casper eds., 1975) [hereinafter LANDMARK BRIEFS AND

ARGUMENTS].
63 See PUSEY, supra note 56, at 52-53.

64 Id. at 53.
65 I CHARLES A. BEARD & MARY R. BEARD, AMERICA IN MIDPASSAGE 359 (I939).
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Supremacy: A Study of a Crisis in American Power Politics,66 an
examination of the crisis of 1937. He observed that "[the Justices of
the Supreme Court] confessed legal error and saved themselves from
political humiliation. They subdued the rebellion against their con-
stitutional dogma by joining it."67 Max Lerner was slightly more
equivocal. He explained in 1942 that "[t]here are some who maintain
that Justices Hughes and Roberts had already made up their minds
to retreat before the President announced his Court plan. We shall
never know for certain what went on between the Justices during the
Saturday sessions at which they discussed their coming decisions." 68

In the same year, Professor Benjamin F. Wright assayed the con-
clusion that the court-packing plan caused the "switch in time. 69 The
great political scientist Edward S. Corwin also concluded that politics
rather than law had influenced the Court's West Coast Hotel and
Jones & Laughlin Steel decisions. 70 However, like Alsop and Ca-
tledge, Corwin also believed that Roosevelt's reelection was more
responsible for the change of heart by Justices Hughes and Roberts
than Roosevelt's Court reorganization plan. 71 Carl Swisher con-
cluded, "the feeling of the public, and probably of the bar as well,
was that Justice Roberts had deemed it expedient to change his po-
sition because of the movement to reorganize the Court. ' 72 Robert
Stern wrote in the Harvard Law Review that the Court's sudden
reversal was not attributable "to anything inherent in the cases them-
selves," 73 and argued that the consensus was that Justice Roberts and
Chief Justice Hughes altered their votes to save the "independent"
judiciary from legislative restructuring. 74

In 1948, C. Herman Pritchett, amazed by the Court's West Coast
Hotel decision, declared that "the Court itself began to prove the truth
of Mr. Dooley's conclusion that that estimable body generally, if be-

66 See ROBERT H. JACKSON, THE STRUGGLE FOR JUDICIAL SUPREMACY: A STUDY OF A

CRISIS IN AMERICAN POWER POLITICS at xviii (1941). Jackson was FDR's Attorney General in
194o and i94i before his appointment to the Supreme Court, and in 1937, as Solicitor General,
he ardently supported FDR's court-packing plan.

67 Id. at vi.
68 Max Lerner, The Great Constitutional War, i8 VA. Q. REV. 530, 540 (i942).
69 See BENJAMIN F. WRIGHT, THE GROWTH OF AMERICAN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 202 &

n.3 (1942).
70 See EDWARD S. CORWIN, CONSTITUTIONAL REVOLUTION, LTD. 73 (1941).
71 See id.

72 CARL B. SWISHER, AMERICAN CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT 946 (1943); see also CARL

B. SWISHER, THE GROWTH OF CONSTITUTIONAL POWER IN THE UNITED STATES 225-27 (1946)
(describing the assessment of the Court's "switch in time" as a reaction to FDR's court-reorga-
nization plan).

73 Robert L. Stern, The Commerce Clause and the National Economy, z933-46, 59 HARV.
L. REv. 645, 681 (1946).

74 See id. at 682.
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19941 A THRICE-TOLD TALE

latedly, 'follows th' illiction returns.' 75 Four years later, the consti-
tutional historian and judicial biographer Alpheus T. Mason also
concluded that politics had led to the reversal. 76 In 1953, Harvard-
educated Australian lawyer and legal scholar Edward McWhinney
wrote that Justice Roberts had "switch[ed]" in i937.77 Yet even as
the political explanation of the Court's actions in 1937 became the
standardized version of events, Felix Frankfurter privately laid the
groundwork for a wholly different account of those events, 78 an ac-
count more in keeping with the post-World War II legal academy's
faith in the principled, disinterested judge.

Against the predominant view, Pusey largely maintained a lonely
vigil. 79 As the hand-picked80 biographer of Chief Justice Hughes, he

75 C. HERMAN PRITCHETT, THE ROOSEVELT COURT: A STUDY IN JUDICIAL POLITICS AND
VALUES, 1937-1947, at 8-9 (1948).

76 See Alpheus T. Mason, Harlan Fiske Stone and FDR's Court Plan, 6i YALE L.J. 791,
8x6 (1952); see also ALPHEUS T. MASON, BRANDEIS: A FREE MAN'S LIFE 627 (1946) (arguing
that concern over proposals for reform of the federal judiciary prompted the Court to rule in
favor of the administration in its 1937 decisions).

77 Edward McWhinney, Judicial Concurrences and Dissents: A Comparative View of Opin-
ion-Wiiting in Final Appellate Tribunals, 31 CANADIAN B. REV. 595, 613 (1953).

78 After McWhinney's article was published, Justice Frankfurter wrote to Professor Paul
Freund of the Harvard Law School, asking "Am I wrong in having the impression that Edward
McWhinney is something of a protege of yours?" Letter from Justice Felix Frankfurter to Paul
A. Freund, Professor, Harvard Law School (Oct. i8, 1953), microformed on Felix Frankfurter
Papers, Harvard Law School Library, at Part III, Reel 15 (Univ. Publications of Am., Inc.)
[hereinafter Harvard Frankfurter Papers]; Felix Frankfurter Papers, Library of Congress, at
Container 56 (Library of Congress Manuscript Div.) [hereinafter Library of Congress Frankfurter
Papers]. In this letter, as in the Roberts memorandum, Frankfurter only discusses the "switch"
regarding the minimum wage cases. Frankfurter then first privately expressed to Freund part
of the claim that he would make publicly less than three years later: "The fact is that Roberts
did not switch. He was prepared in Tipaldo to make a majority overruling Adkins. He was
not prepared to distinguish Adkins. Because there was no majority for overruling Adkins he
was in the majority in the Morehead case on the basis of which Morehead was decided." Id.
at I. Frankfurter then quoted Hughes' remark in West Coast Hotel that the issue in the
Morehead case was whether to distinguish rather than overrule Adkins. See id.

For a discussion of Freund's particular influence as a constitutional scholar, see pp. 659-62
below.

79 Pusey was joined in part only by Samuel Hendel and Charles Curtis. Hendel's book was
published shortly before Pusey's in I95i; Curtis's book was published in 1947. See CHARLES
P. CURTIS, JR., LIONS UNDER THE THRONE 159, 174 (1947) (concluding that Justice Roberts
"quite simply reverted to his former attitude in the Nebbia case three years before," but also
concluding that some "shift" in Justice Roberts's positions took place in the minimum wage,
Jones & Laughlin Steel, and Social Security Cases); SAMUEL HENDEL, CHARLES EVANS
HUGHES AND THE SUPREME COURT 252-53, , 264-65 (195) (conceding that in West Coast Hotel
Chief Justice Hughes and Justice Roberts switched in part to defeat the court-packing plan, but
arguing that Hughes's decision in Jones & Laughlin Steel was not a shift in position).

so Alpheus T. Mason was critical of Pusey's closeness to his biographical subject. See
Alpheus T. Mason, Charles Evans Hughes: An Appeal to the Bar of History, 6 VAND. L. REv.
I, i8-I9 (1952) ("Mr. Hughes repudiated autobiography as smacking of 'apologia'; he distrusted
independent research as running the risk of 'misrepresentation.' Conscious of both these pitfalls,
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argued that the Court had not switched in response to Roosevelt's
plan. Regarding West Coast Hotel, Pusey quoted Hughes's Biograph-
ical Notes: "The President's proposal had not the slightest effect on
our decision." 81 The questions Pusey found unanswerable in I937
were answered in 1951. To deflect the charge that Justice Roberts
"switched" his vote in the Jones & Laughlin Steel case, Pusey again
quoted the Biographical Notes: "[A]s to Justice Roberts, I feel that I
am able to say with definiteness that his view in favor of [the Jones
& Laughlin Steel decision] would have been the same if the President's
bill had never been proposed. The Court acted with complete inde-
pendence."8 2 Because there was nothing other than Chief Justice
Hughes's bald assertions8 3 to support the claim that the Court had
not reacted to Roosevelt's plan, Pusey was alone in his vigil.

This changed with the publication of Justice Felix Frankfurter's
tribute to the late Justice Owen Roberts.

IV.

Frankfurter when the Diaries resume in 1943 (the Diary for 1937 has
not been recovered) ....

JOSEPH P. LASH, FROM THE DIARIES OF FELIX FRANKFURTER8 4

he chose his biographer and worked closely with him over a period of several years."). When
Mason published his biography of Harlan Fiske Stone, Pusey criticized Mason's lack of "objec-
tivity" in assessing the Hughes Court. See Merlo J. Pusey, A Great Man of the Law Portrayed:
In a New Life of Chief Justice Stone a Chapter of American History Unrolls, N.Y. TIMES,
Nov. I, 1956, § 7, at I (reviewing ALPHEUS T. MASON, HARLAN FISKE STONE: PILLAR OF
THE LAW (1956)).

81 2 PUSEY, supra note 6i, at 757 (quoting Charles E. Hughes, Biographical Notes, ch.
XXIII, at 31); THE AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF CHARLES EVANS HUGHES 312 (David J.
Danelski & Joseph S. Tulchin eds., 1973) [hereinafter AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF HUGHES].
Chief Justice Hughes's Biographical Notes were published in 1973. See AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL
NOTES OF HUGHES, supra.

82 AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF HUGHES, supra note 81, at 313; 2 PUSEY, supra note 61,

at 768 (quoting Charles E. Hughes, Biographical Notes, ch. XXIII, at 33).
83 In a 1983 article, Pusey wrote that he had "confidential[ly]" interviewed Justice Roberts

on May 31, 1946, at which time Justice Roberts convinced him that "his chief objective at that
time had been to avoid making a decision on the vital issue of state minimum-wage legislation
against the background of New York's disingenuous arguments." Merlo J. Pusey, Justice
Roberts' z937 Turnaround, 1983 Y.B. SUP. Cr. HIST. SOC'Y 102, xo6. Probably because the
interview was confidential, Pusey did not cite this interview in his Hughes biography, but it
may be considered additional, albeit biased, evidence for his conclusions. Pusey apparently did
not ask Roberts to explain his votes in Jones & Laughlin Steel and the Social Security Cases.
In the same article, Pusey also noted that Justice Roberts's "initial, semifacetious reply" to
Pusey's question about a shift was: "Who knows what causes a judge to decide as he does?
Maybe the breakfast he had has something to do with it." Id.

84 JOSEPH P. LASH, FROM THE DIARIES OF FELIX FRANKFURTER 141 (1975).

[Vol. 107:620
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In the December 195585 issue of the University of Pennsylvania
Law Review, Justice Frankfurter wrote a seven-page tribute to his
former colleague, Justice Roberts.8 6 Frankfurter's tribute had two
purposes: first, to honor a former colleague, and second, to tell "[tlhe
truth about the so-called 'switch' of Roberts in connection with the
Minimum Wage cases .... ,,87 Frankfurter accomplished his first
purpose in little more than two pages; the remainder of the tribute
consisted of his attempt to resolve the second issue.

A.

"It is one of the most ludicrous illustrations of the power of lazy
repetition of uncritical talk that a judge with the character of Roberts
should have attributed to him a change of judicial views out of
deference to political considerations," began Frankfurter's defense.8 8

Frankfurter took special offense when prominent politicians and ac-
ademic scholars repeatedly claimed that Justice Roberts's votes
changed as a result of Roosevelt's Court reorganization plan. This
charge was false, and Frankfurter was going to refute it with "indis-
putable facts."8 9 What were these indisputable facts?

Frankfurter made three arguments to refute this charge. First,
timing was everything. To understand Justice Roberts's votes, a crit-

85 The correspondence between Justice Frankfurter and the editors of the University of

Pennsylvania Law Review indicates that the issue was actually published in late January or
early February of 1956. See Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Container
181.

86 See Frankfurter, supra note xo. Roberts, a graduate of the University of Pennsylvania
Law School, was a prominent lawyer in Philadelphia. See Erwin R. Griswold, Owen J. Roberts
as a Judge, io4 U. PA. L. REv. 332, 332-33 (1955). He gained national attention for his work
as special counsel investigating the Teapot Dome scandal. See id. In 1930, President Hoover
appointed him to the Court. After resigning from the Court at age seventy in 1945, Roberts
returned to private practice and a life as a gentleman farmer. He became Dean of the University
of Pennsylvania Law School in 1948. See id. at 349. The sole published biography of Roberts
is CHARLES A. LEONARD, A SEARCH FOR A JUDICIAL PHILOSOPHY (1971).

Justice Roberts died on May 17, 1955, a year to the day after Brown was decided, and two
weeks before the remedy in Brown was handed down. In a 1944 letter, Roberts made Frank-
furter his "judicial executor." See Letter from Justice Owen J. Roberts to Justice Felix Frank-
furter (Oct. 12, 1944), microforrned on Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part Im,
Reel 3. Roberts's purpose in making Frankfurter his judicial executor was apparently to halt
any "joint expression" from the Court and any "memorial ceremony." It does not appear to
have been Frankfurter's "duty" to protect Roberts's reputation as a jurist after Roberts's death,
and there is no mention in this letter of any explanation by Roberts of his actions in 1937.

87 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 314.
89 Id. at 313. In the next sentence, Frankfurter noted an unnamed Senator's allusion to "the

famous switch of Mr. Justice Roberts." Id. Frankfurter was referring to Senator Paul Douglas,
whose statement appeared in the April 13, 1955 issue of the Congressional Record. See Clipping
of April 13, 1955 Congressional Record (84th Cong., ist Sess., at 363), microformed on Harvard
Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 3.

89 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 313.
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ical investigator needed to look at the interstices of the United States
Reports. On November 23, 1936, two and one-half months before
Roosevelt's Court plan was publicly announced, an evenly divided
Supreme Court affirmed a New York Court of Appeals decision that
had upheld the constitutionality of the New York Unemployment
Insurance Law. 90 Because Justice Stone was ill and thus absent from
the bench at that time, the fourth vote for to sustain the act must
have come from Justice Roberts. 91 Because "[t]he constitutional out-
look represented by [that case] would reflect the attitude of a Justice
towards the issues involved in the Adkins case, '92 Justice Roberts's
vote on this date foreshadowed his vote in West Coast Hotel v. Par-
rish. Looking only at the United States Reports, therefore, it was
apparent to any scholar of the Court that Justice Roberts's decision
in West Coast Hotel was not influenced by Roosevelt's court-re-
organization legislation. 93

90 See W.H.H. Chamberlin, Inc. v. Andrews, 299 U.S. 515, 515 (1936) (per curiam).
91 See Frankfurter, supra note Io, at 316.
92 Id.

93 The timing argument was unavailable with respect to Jones & Laughlin Steel and the
Social Security Cases, because the votes in those cases took place after FDR's announcement
of his Court reorganization plan. NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1 (1937),
was argued on February io-xi, 1937; the Social Security Cases, Chas. C. Steward Mach. Co.
v. Davis, 301 U.S. 549 (1937); and Helvering v. Davis, 301 U.S. 619 (x937), were argued on
April 8-9 and May 5 of that year.

A similar timing argument regarding West Coast Hotel was made by then-Dean of Harvard
Law School, Erwin Griswold, in his tribute to Roberts in the same issue of the University of
Pennsylvania Law Review. See Griswold, supra note 86, at 341-42. Dean Griswold wrote:

The story is written quite clearly in the public record, but there has been much misun-
derstanding about it, and it is widely said that Roberts, frightened by the President's
Court-packing plan, flopped over from a vote against minimum wage legislation in 1936
to one in favor of such statutes in 1937. No one could say this with any understanding
of Roberts.

Id. at 340.
Griswold's tribute had its own effect. In a i99i review of Griswold's memoirs, the estimable

federal courts scholar Charles Alan Wright wrote:
The article [Griswold's tribute to Roberts] is completely convincing that neither the Court-
packing plan nor the outcome of the 1936 election played a part in Roberts's vote to
strike down a New York minimum wage statute in Morehead . . . and to uphold a
Washington statute in West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish ....

Charles A. Wright, "A Man May Live Greatly in the Law", 70 TEX. L. REV. 505, 5x6 n.78
(i99I) (citations omitted) (reviewing ERWIN N. GRISWOLD, OULD FIELDS, NEW CoRNE: THE
PERSONAL MEMOIRS OF A TWENTIETH CENTURY LAWYER (1992)).

For his part, Dean Griswold's "public record" is the declaration that Justice Roberts voted
with the majority in Morehead because counsel for New York did not request overruling Adkins,
and the statutes were not distinguishable. Although not cited by Griswold, Pusey had previously
made this assertion publicly in his biography of Hughes. See 2 PUSEY, supra note 61, at 700-
oi. Pusey's biography is, however, cited by Griswold elsewhere in his tribute. See Griswold,
supra note 86, at 343. In response to my request, Dean Griswold wrote that he does not recall
ever speaking to Justice Roberts about his votes in Morehead and West Coast Hotel and that a
thorough knowledge of Justice Roberts and the beginning of the Morehead opinion (which

[Vol. 107:620
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Second, Frankfurter cited Justice Roberts's majority opinion in the
1934 case of Nebbia v. New York94 as evidence that Justice Roberts
opposed the "constitutional philosophy" of the four dissenters in West
Coast Hotel.95 In Frankfurter's view, Justice Roberts's opinion in
Nebbia "undermined the foundations of Adkins"96 and allowed Chief
Justice Hughes to rely "heavily" on Nebbia in writing the majority's
opinion in West Coast Hotel.97 Frankfurter suggests that the reader
can deduce the outcome in West Coast Hotel from Nebbia's logic;
under this reasoning, Justice Roberts's Nebbia opinion refutes any
notion that Justice Roberts "switched" in West Coast Hotel.

Frankfurter's final and most important argument for Justice Rob-
erts's principled decisionmaking, however, was found in. a memoran-
dum given to Frankfurter by Roberts, and made public for the first
time in the tribute. 98 Roberts prepared this memorandum at Frank-

insisted that the petition for certiorari asked to distinguish Adkins, not assess its constitutionality)
makes it obvious that this was the price of Justice Roberts's vote. See Letter from Erwin N.
Griswold, former Dean, Harvard Law School, to Michael Ariens, Professor (Mar. io, 1993) (on
file at the Harvard Law School Library). But the majority's opinion in Morehead went well
beyond the confines of its first sentence, and nothing in the public record indicates that Justice
Roberts disagreed with any part of the Morehead opinion. Additionally, New York counsel did
request that the Court consider overruling Adkins. See infra note io5. With all deference, I
am not convinced by Dean Griswold's explanation of Justice Roberts's views, especially because
Griswold concludes his letter to me by citing Frankfurter's tribute as further evidence. See
Letter from Erwin N. Griswold to Michael Ariens, supra.

The editors of the University of Pennsylvania Law Review, however, made special mention
of the fact that Griswold's tribute exonerating Roberts was written without knowledge of the
Frankfurter tribute. See Griswold, supra note 86, at 340 n.*. However, Frankfurter may have
been aware of Griswold's tribute before he penned his own tribute to Roberts. A November
28, 1955 letter from Curtis Reitz to Frankfurter notes that all but Frankfurter's "introductcry
remarks and Mr. Justice Roberts' own memorandum" had been received and edited for publi-
cation. The letter then goes on to state, "I am somewhat apprehensive that further editing may
be required in order to avoid any unintentional impression that may arise from Dean Griswold's
treatment of the criticism that Roberts 'switched' votes under political pressure." Letter from
Curtis R. Reitz, Editor, University of Pennsylvania Law Review, to Justice Felix Frankfurter
(Nov. 28, 1955), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at
Container i8i. Frankfurter responded on November 30, 1955, by writing, "Your reference to
Dean Griswold's treatment of the 'switching' judge naturally interests me. Do you suppose you
could let me see what Dean Griswold has written? It might save you further editing." Letter
from Justice Felix Frankfurter to Curtis R. Reitz, Editor, University of Pennsylvania Law
Review (Nov. 30, 1955), microforted on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note
78, at Container I81. I have been unable to locate any response to this request in the Frankfurter
Papers.

94 291 U.S. 502 (1934). Because this case was decided by a vote of 5-4, Justice Roberts's
affirmative vote was decisive.

95 See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 316-17.
96 Id. at 317.
97 See id.
98 See id. at 314 n.*. In his interview with Merlo Pusey on May 31, 1946, Justice Roberts

apparently made no mention of having given Justice Frankfurter six months previously any
memorandum concerning his decision in West Coast Hotel. See Pusey, supra note 83, at
io6-07.
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furter's request, which, according to Frankfurter, "took not a little
persuasion." 99 Frankfurter stated that Roberts gave him the memo-
randum on November 9, 1945, after Roberts had resigned from the
Court.' 00 For Frankfurter, Roberts's memorandum confirmed the "in-
dependent" timing defense of Roberts's vote in West Coast Hotel.
Roberts's memorandum gave the following account: during the week
of October 5, 1936, Justice Roberts voted to grant certiorari in West
Coast Hotel, and shortly after the case was argued on December 16
and I7, 1936, Justice Roberts voted to affirm the lower court's decision
and uphold the constitutionality of Washington's minimum wage stat-
ute. As Justice Stone was ill and not voting, the Court held over the
case until his return, because a decision by an evenly divided Court
was thought an "unfortunate outcome." 10 1 When the case was again
taken up on February 6, 1937, Justice Stone's vote to affirm broke
the tie, and the opinion was then assigned by Chief Justice Hughes
to himself. It was announced on March 29, 1937.102

One difficulty with both the timing and the Nebbia defenses of
Justice Roberts's "switch" is that neither sufficiently explains why
Justice Roberts voted to hold a state minimum wage statute un-
constitutional in Morehead in May 1936 and voted to hold a nearly
identical statute constitutional ten months later in West Coast Hotel.
The statements in Roberts's memorandum have become the standard
revised version of the reasons "synthesizing" the differing decisions:
because counsel for the state of New York in Morehead asked only
that the Court distinguish 0 3 the Adkins 10 4 precedent, and not overrule
it, Justice Roberts felt compelled to follow Adkins. Simply put, it
was the fault of timid and disingenuous counsel for the state of New
York, who failed to urge the overruling of Adkins. l0 5 As the memo-

99 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 314.
100 See id. 'at 314 n.*.
101 Id. at 315.
102 See id. at 314-15.
103 Ironically, it was Frankfurter and Ben Cohen who strongly urged that the statute at issue

in Morehead be drafted in such a way that it would be distinguishable from the Adkins
precedent. See LASH, supra note 36, at 15-6, 47-50.

104 Adkins held that a District of Columbia law that mandated a minimum wage violated
the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. See Adkins v. Children's Hosp., 261 U.S.
525, 559 (1923). Arguing on behalf of the constitutionality of the law was then-Professor Felix
Frankfurter. Justice Brandeis did not participate in the decision because his daughter Elizabeth
was the secretary of the District of Columbia wage board. See LASH, supra note 36, at 38.

105 Merlo Pusey made this argument in 1951 in his biography of Charles Evans Hughes.
Without citing any source, Pusey wrote: "The time was ripe for a bold assault upon Adkins v.
Children's Hospital. But counsel for New York missed his opportunity. Meekly accepting the
Adkins ruling, he asked the court only to differentiate the two statutes. Roberts thought that
reasoning was disingenuous and voted with the conservatives." 2 PUSEY, supra note 6z, at 7o1;
see also Pusey, supra note 83, at io6 (stating that Roberts convinced him that "his chief objective
at that time had been to avoid making a decision on the vital issue of state minimum-wage
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randum noted, Justice Roberts had told his brethren, when the peti-
tion for certiorari in Morehead was discussed in conference, that he
intended to follow precedent because New York did not urge over-
ruling in Adkins.

When the Court met in October 1936 to consider whether to grant
certiorari to cases filed with the Court over the summer, the Roberts
memorandum states that four members of the majority in Morehead
"voted to dismiss the appeal in the Parrish case." 106 The memoran-
dum also states that Roberts voted to note probable jurisdiction,
although "I am not sure that I gave my reason." 10 7 Because "the
authority of Adkins was definitely assailed and the Court was asked
to reconsider and overrule it," Roberts wrote, "for the first time, I
was confronted with the necessity of facing the soundness of the
Adkins case." 10 8 Although Roberts confessed error in not separately

legislation against the background of New York's disingenuous arguments"). Frankfurter was

aware of the argument that New York counsel was disingenuous, because he reviewed the

Hughes biography for the New York Times and, as his papers indicate, he underlined in his

own review copy the second sentence quoted above. See Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra

note 78, at Part III, Reel 39.
But in 1938, Frankfurter destroyed this argument:

An examination of the contents of the petition for certiorari affords a conclusive answer
to the views of the majority. It shows that the petitioner took the broad position that
the statute was constitutional irrespective of anything decided in the Adkins case. And
such statements as the sixth reason relied upon for the allowance of the writ, that "The
circumstances prevailing under which the New York law was enacted call for a recon-
sideration of the Adkins case in light of the New York Act and conditions deemed to be
remedied thereby," raised the argumentative claim that the Adkins case should no longer
be followed, expressed as euphemistically as the tactful language of advocacy would
naturally convey it.

Felix Frankfurter & Adrian S. Fisher, The Business of the Supreme Court at the October Terms,

z935 and x936, 51 HARv. L. REv. 577, 634 n.127 (1938). Fisher later became Justice Frank-

furter's first Supreme Court law clerk.
106 Frankfurter, supra note to, at 315.
107 Id.
108 Id. Roberts's claim seems suspect, however, even at first blush. In his 1938 article,

Frankfurter himself suggested that these "technical barriers of appellate practice" to considering

the constitutionality of state minimum wage acts in Morehead were inapposite. With respect to

Justice Roberts, left unnamed in this article, Frankfurter wrote:

That a Justice who found technical barriers of appellate practice against even considering
whether the specific objections to minimum wage legislation made by the Adkins case
had been met by a later statute should, within less than a year, make the majority
necessary for overruling the Adkins case, cannot have many parallels in the history of
the Supreme Court. But, within less than a year, the Adkins case was overruled.

Frankfurter & Fisher, supra note 1o5, at 635-36.
Furthermore, Professor Richard Friedman informed me that, as of October 12, 1936, the

Court possessed only the jurisdictional statement of West Coast Hotel, the petitioner. When the

petition was granted, no papers from either Parrish's counsel or the State of Washington

requesting that Adkins or Morehead be overruled were before the Court. See Amended State-

ment as to Jurisdiction at 13-14, West Coast Hotel (No. 293), reprinted in 33 LANDMARK BRIEFS

AND ARGUMENTS, supra note 62, at 9o-9i. Interestingly, the memorandum itself seems to

acknowledge that Justice Roberts could not have known that the authority of Adkins was being
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concurring the previous year in the Morehead case, 10 9 he concluded
that "[t]hese facts make it evident that no action taken by the President
in the interim had any causal relation to my action in the Parrish
case.""l

0

And there you have it.

B.

The problem, of course, is that Justice Frankfurter does not deliver
the promised "indisputable facts," whether by looking at the interstices
of the United States Reports, by citing Roberts's opinion in Nebbia,
or by making public Roberts's memorandum. Viewed critically,11'
Justice Frankfurter's revisionist history raises more questions than it
answers. These facts do not lead to the conclusion that in the spring

assailed when he voted to hear the case. See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315 ("During the
conferences [from October 5, 1937 to October io, 1937] the jurisdictional statement in the
Parrish case was considered . . ").

109 See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 314-15. Justice Roberts's memorandum suggests that
his decision to make a majority in Morehead, and thus hold the New York law unconstitutional,
was based completely on precedent. In response to a circulated dissent, Justice Butler's revised
draft of the majority opinion in Morehead rested on more than the precedent in Adkins and
sought to sustain Adkins in principle. See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 314-15. Thus, in
hindsight, Justice Roberts believed he should have concurred separately. See id. at 315. Charles
Curtis made a similar argument, suggesting that the vote in West Coast Hotel was probably
taken shortly after oral argument in mid-December and before the President's announcement.
If this is true, he writes, "the [court-packing] plan had nothing to do with the decision." CURTIS,
supra note 79, at x61. But cf. Frankfurter & Fisher, supra note 1o5, at 634-36 & n.127 (noting
with barely controlled fury that the sixth reason given by the petitioner in Morehead for granting
the writ was to reconsider the holding in Adkins).

110 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315. Interestingly, Justice Roberts's language in this
memorandum mimics the language used by Chief Justice Hughes in his Biographical Notes.
See AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF HUGHES, supra note 81, at 312. This mimicry is especially
interesting because Justice Frankfurter's handwritten comments in his copy of the Pusey biog-
raphy also note Roberts's failure to state his reasons for voting in Morehead as he did. See
MERLO J. PUSEY, CHARLES EVANS HUGHES (195I) (Frankfurter's personal copy), microfortned
on Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 39 ("He shouldn't have
suppressed his own views by silence.").

M An insightful evaluation of the Roberts memorandum is found in BOBB1TT, cited above
in note ii, at 39-4o. A less helpful analysis is David Burner, Owen J. Roberts, in 3 THE
JUSTICES OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT 1789-1978: THEIR LIVES AND MAJOR
OPINIONS 2253, 2261-62 (Leon Friedman ed., 198o), in which the author misleadingly states
that "Justice [Roberts] remembered having been quite prepared to overrule Adkins outright
... " Id. at 2261. The memorandum reads: "I said I saw no reason to grant the writ [in
Morehead] unless the Court were prepared to re-examine and overrule the Adkins case." Frank-
furter, supra note io, at 314. Thus, Roberts does not say he was ready to overrule Adkins, but
uses the more lawyerly construction that he believed the Court should not hear the case unless
it was prepared to overrule Adkins. Because in Roberts's view the petition for certiorari urged
the Court to distinguish the statute in Adkins from the statute in Morehead, he may have been
implying that Adkins should not be disturbed.
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of 1936 Roberts was "prepared to overrule the Adkins decision.' 2

Aside from the memorandum, Frankfurter offered little evidence that
was not available in 1937, when Frankfurter himself was among the
most fervent of those who believed that Roberts had "switched" for
political reasons.

i. - One reason the timing defense fails is that all of Roberts's
crucial votes occurred after the overwhelming reelection of Roosevelt.
W.H.H. Chamberlin, Inc. v. Andrews was decided on November 23,
1936, and the date of the initial vote in West Coast Hotel was Decem-
ber I9, 1936.113 Also damaging to the timing defense is the fact that
the Court denied New York's petition to rehear Morehead on October
12, 1936, the same day the Court announced that certiorari was
granted in West Coast Hotel." 4

Instead of vindicating Roberts, the timing defense suggests (but
doesn't prove) the opposite: because the Washington Supreme Court
had upheld the constitutionality of its state minimum wage statute,
Roberts's vote to grant certiorari in West Coast Hotel and his vote to
deny rehearing in Morehead seemed to foreshadow, before the elec-
tion, another decision that would strike down a state minimum wage
law. The possibility that Roberts's vote to grant certiorari in West
Coast Hotel might be so understood seems more plausible given the
two misstatements in the memorandum: 15 first, because West Coast
Hotel's jurisdictional statement was the only document before the
Court as of October io, 1936, the constitutionality of the holding in
Adkins could not have been assailed before the petition was granted;
and second, the question at conference was not whether to dismiss
the case based on the Adkins and Morehead precedents, but whether
to reverse it. As Frankfurter acknowledges in a footnote to his tribute,

112 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 314.

113 Perhaps even more importantly, the second vote in West Coast Hotel was taken on
February 6, 1937, one day after FDR's announcement of his bill to reorganize the federal courts.
The opinion was not issued until March 29, 1937. See id. at 315. Although the claim was that
Justice Roberts's initial vote in West Coast Hotel occurred before the announcement of the plan,
FDR's announcement almost certainly had a significant effect on the opinion ultimately written
by Chief Justice Hughes for the majority.

114 In the spring of 1937, Frankfurter was well aware of this counterargument, having made
it himself. See Letter from Felix Frankfurter to Harlan F. Stone, supra note 5i, at i89-9o
("Roberts' somersault [is] incapable of being attributed to a single factor relevant to the professed
judicial process. Everything that he now subscribes to he rejected not only on June first last,
but as late as October twelfth when New York's petition for a rehearing was denied."). By
1955, only the interstice of the Reports noting the Court's order in Chamberlin was important.

l1S See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315. As Professor Bobbitt notes, "since the Washington
Supreme Court had sustained the minimum wage statute, Roberts's vote to note probable
jurisdiction would appear to have an opposite import to the one he remembered." BOBBT,
supra note ii, at 40. At the end of the memorandum, the manner in which West Coast Hotel
came before the Court is accurately remembered. See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315.
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because the Washington Supreme Court had upheld the constitution-
ality of the act, "[e]vidently [Roberts] meant [West Coast Hotel] should
be reversed summarily .... ,,n6

2. - West Coast Hotel radically narrowed the Court's role in
assessing state economic regulation against due process constraints. It
also overruled Morehead, a case decided only ten months previously.
Because Justice Roberts joined the majority in both cases but wrote
an opinion in neither, Justice Frankfurter sought evidence of Roberts's
principled acceptance of this new "standard of review" in his other
opinions. The most logical choice was Roberts's majority opinion in
Nebbia v. New York, 117 which Justice Frankfurter relied on for his
second argument for the revised history.

Roberts's vote was necessary for a majority in Nebbia, and Justice
Frankfurter used the Nebbia opinion as evidence of a change in
Roberts's "judicial philosophy" well before FDR announced his court-
reorganization plan. But to defend Justice Roberts's vote in West
Coast Hotel by citing his opinion three years earlier in Nebbia is
terribly misleading. Even Hughes did not think that Nebbia an-
nounced a change in judicial philosophy. As Pusey notes, "Nebbia v.
New York is sometimes said to reflect a sharp breaking away from
the doctrine of the Oklahoma ice case. Chief Justice Hughes did not
so regard it."118 More importantly, to accept Nebbia as the crucial
substantive due process case requires one to ignore both Roberts's
language in Nebbia and the events of the intervening years.

The Nebbia opinion looked both forward and backward. It looked
forward by dispensing with labels or catch-phrases to decide the
case.119 It looked backward, however, by reaffirming the Court's
authority substantively to review state economic legislation through
the Due Process Clause. 120 The Court held in Nebbia that a New
York law creating a Milk Control Board with the power to fix the
minimum and maximum price of milk did not violate the Due Process

116 Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315 n.* (emphasis added). Curiously, in the Felix Frank-
furter Papers, it is clear from a review of several drafts of the tribute that this footnote was
added after the initial drafting of the tribute. See Felix Frankfurter, undated draft of Mr.
Justice Roberts, microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at
Container 18x, at 7.

117 291 U.S. 502 (1934)-

118 2 PUsEy, supra note 6i, at 700. In his Holmes Lectures, Judge Learned Hand agreed
with Chief Justice Hughes. "The decision of a bare majority in 1934 that a state may fix the
price of milk was taken by some people as a coup de grace of the old doctrine, though it really
should not have been so taken .. "LEARNED HAND, THE BILL OF RIGHTS 43 (1958) (footnote
omitted).

119 See Nebbia, 291 U.S. at 536 (asserting that due process decisions must rest on the
circumstances of each case, rather than on whether a business is "affected with a public interest"
or "clothed with a public use").

120 See id. at 539 (holding that price control "is unconstitutional . . . if arbitrary, discrimi-
natory, or demonstrably irrelevant to the policy the legislature is free to adopt").

[Vol. 107:620



A THRICE-TOLD TALE

Clause. 12 1 While upholding New York's action, however, Justice Rob-
erts repeatedly emphasized, at no fewer than six places in his opinion,
the constitutional boundaries on state laws that regulate business: The
law can be neither "arbitrary" nor "unreasonable.' 1 22 Determining
whether the regulation is reasonable "depends upon the relevant
facts."'123 Justice Roberts attempted at length to explain why the New
York law was -reasonable, and thus constitutional. The striking ele-
ment of Roberts's opinion in Nebbia is not its holding, then, but its
reaffirmation of the Court's role. Important constitutional limitations
on state action that regulates economic relations remain that the Court
must police. But although Justice Roberts's opinion was "modern" in
the sense that it discarded the "affected with a public interest" doc-
trine, the opinion also made it clear that the Court's role in deciding
economic substantive due process cases had been altered only in de-
gree, not in kind. The result is that Justice Roberts's opinion in
Nebbia is strikingly different in both force and tone from Chief Justice
Hughes's language in West Coast Hotel, in which he wrote that "[t]he
adoption of [minimum wage laws] by many States evidences a deep-
seated conviction both as to the presence of the evil and as to the
means adapted to check it. Legislative response to that conviction
cannot be regarded as arbitrary or capricious, and that is all we have
to decide."'1 24 It is the conclusory statements in West Coast Hotel,
and not Roberts's opinion in Nebbia, that indicate the real change in
judicial role.

Indications of a shift in 1934 were premature. Cases decided after
Nebbia and before West Coast Hotel show that demanding substantive
review remained the norm in cases involving socioeconomic legisla-
tion. Morehead, the next substantive due process case after Nebbia,
was also the only substantive due process case that the Court decided
between 1934 and I937. In Morehead, Justice Roberts voted to strike
down the minimum wage law. 125 Further, the Court's decision in

121 See id.

122 Id. at 521, 525, 530, 536,- 537, 539.
123 Id. at 525.

124 West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish, 300 U.S. 379, 399 (1937).
12s The Morehead dissenters cited Nebbia as precedent for their position, see Morehead v.

New York ex rel. Tipaldo, 298 U.S. 587, 625 (1936) (Hughes, C.J., dissenting), but Roberts
apparently was able to reconcile the "judicial philosophy" behind the two cases. That Nebbia
did not indicate a change in philosophical position by Roberts may be reflected in Ashton v.
Cameron County Water Improvement Dist., 298 U.S. 513 (1936), decided one week before
Morehead. The federal statute at issue in Ashton was originally passed in 1934 to aid a large
number of debt-stricken local governmental entities. See id. at 527. Justice Roberts joined
Justice McReynolds's majority opinion, which concluded that Congress's power to establish
uniform laws on bankruptcy did not extend to including bankruptcy protections to a political
subdivision of a state. See id. at 527, 530. Justice McReynolds reached this conclusion because
he believed that any other conclusion would violate the principles of federalism, even though
state consent was necessary for the subdivision to utilize the bankruptcy law. See id. at 531.
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Nebbia did not resolve all of the legal questions about the constitu-
tionality of the New York law. One year after Nebbia was decided,
a unanimous Court gutted the statute upheld in Nebbia by concluding
that its application to interstate sales of milk violated the Commerce
Clause. 126

During the October I935 Term, the Supreme Court decided two
more cases involving the constitutionality of the amended New York
Milk Control Act. Justice Roberts wrote both decisions. 127 In both
cases, milk producers claimed that the amended Act violated the
Equal Protection Clause. In the first case, Borden's Farm Products
Co. v. Ten Eyck, 128 Justice Roberts concluded that the State's decision
to permit the sale of unadvertised milk for up to one cent per quart
less than the price of advertised milk did not violate the Equal Pro-
tection Clause as applied to dealers, such as Borden's, that had a
well-advertised trade name. 129 Justices Van Devanter, McReynolds,
Sutherland, and Butler dissented. 130 Shortly after announcing the
Borden's Farm decision, Justice Roberts announced the Court's deci-
sion in Mayflower Farms, Inc. v. Ten Eyck. 131 The Court held that
another provision of the amended Milk Control Act, which prohibited
unadvertised dealers who began selling milk after the date of the
original Milk Control Act from receiving the price differential benefit
upheld in Borden's Farm, was arbitrary and unreasonable and thus
violated the Equal Protection Clause. 132 This time, Justice Cardozo
dissented, joined by Justices Brandeis and Stone. 133

Roberts's opinions in these two cases suggest that Nebbia did not
signal a change in his view of the Court's role in assessing economic
legislation challenged on the basis of the Fourteenth Amendment.

In a rare occurrence, possibly foreshadowing Morehead, Chief justice Hughes joined the dis-
senting opinion of Justice Cardozo.

126 See Baldwin v. G.A.F. Seelig, Inc., 294 U.S. 511, 521-22 (1935).
127 See Mayflower Farms, Inc. v. Ten Eyck, 297 U.S. 266, 270-74 (1936); Borden's Farm

Prod. Co. v. Ten Eyck, 297 U.S. 251, 256-64 (1936). The Supreme Court had also twice
visited the milk-control law after deciding Nebbia and before deciding these two cases. See
Borden's Farm Prod. Co. v. Baldwin, 293 U.S. 194, 203-13 (1934) (holding that a complaint
that alleged a violation of the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses stated a cause of action
and remanding for findings of fact and conclusions of law); Hegeman Farms Corp. v. Baldwin,
293 U.S. 163, 168-72 (x934) (holding unanimously that a bill of complaint requesting an
injunction against enforcement of the act failed to state a cause of action). In Borden's Farm
v. Baldwin, Roberts voted with the majority. Concurring in the result were Justices Stone and
Cardozo.

128 297 U.S. 251 (1936).
129 See id. at 261.
130 See id. at 264-65 (McReynolds, J., dissenting).
131 297 U.S. 266 (1936).
132 See id. at 274.
133 See id. at 274-78 (Cardozo, J., dissenting).
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Mayflower Farms evidences Justice Roberts's continued willingness in
early 1936 to use the constitutional boundaries reiterated in Nebbia to
strike down state economic legislation. In Mayflower Farms, as in
Nebbia, the judge's role was to determine whether the regulation was
"arbitrary" or "unreasonable" after properly weighing the relevant facts
and circumstances in the case before him. 134 Justice Roberts was able
to distinguish the Borden's Farm and Mayflower Farms cases because,
as he had written in Nebbia, "a regulation valid for one sort of
business, or in given circumstances, may be invalid for another sort,
or for the same business under other circumstances, because the rea-
sonableness of each regulation depends upon the relevant facts." 135

Only two years before Nebbia, in New State Ice Co. v. Liebmann,136

the Supreme Court, in an opinion joined by Justice Roberts, had held
unconstitutional an Oklahoma statute regulating entry into the ice-
making and selling business upon a showing of business necessity. 137

Nebbia was the only substantive due process case decided after New
State Ice and before Morehead. Nebbia did not mark a turn in the
Court's economic substantive due process cases; one can more easily
draw a line connecting New State Ice and Morehead than connecting
Nebbia and West Coast Hotel.

3. - Frankfurter's last piece of evidence, the Roberts memoran-
dum, proved crucial in providing support for the revisionist history.
Not only did this document reveal the previously private deliberations
of Roberts, but it also bolstered the timing defense and allowed Frank-
furter to argue that Roberts's change in "judicial philosophy" came
before the announcement of FDR's court-packing plan.

The relevance of the proof found in the memorandum, however,
is difficult to determine. First, I have several reservations concerning
the existence of this memorandum. This exculpatory memorandum
seems out of place given Roberts's self-effacing character, 138 particu-

134 See id. at 272; Nebbia v. New York, 291 U.S. 502, 525 (1934); see also Letter from
Owen J. Roberts to Felix Frankfurter (May 20, 1930), microformed on Harvard Frankfurter
Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 3 ("It seems to me that in every case, when all of the
facts and circumstances are clearly understood and properly weighed, there is a position that
must be eternally right.").

135 Nebbia, 291 U.S. at 525.
136 285 U.S. 262 (1932).

137 See id. at 278. In New State Ice, Chief Justice Hughes and Justice Roberts joined
Justices Van Devanter, McReynolds, Sutherland, and Butler in the majority. Justice Brandeis,
joined by Justice Stone, dissented. Justice Cardozo did not vote in the case. See also Heiner
v. Donnan, 285 U.S. 312, 322 (1932) (holding violative of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth
Amendment a federal tax provision declaring gifts made within two years of donor's death as
made in contemplation of death). The decision in Heiner was announced on the same day as
New State Ice, and the vote was identical.

138 See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 312 ("Who am I to revile the good God that he did
not make me a Marshall, a Taney, a Bradley, a Holmes, a Brandeis or a Cardozo" (quoting
Roberts)).
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larly given his attempt, in his "judicial executor" letter to Frankfurter,
to avoid any encomiums or justifications of his work as a Supreme
Court Justice. 139 It also seems odd that the memorandum would have
been "given" to Frankfurter by Roberts on November 9, 1945, three
months after he had resigned and returned to Pennsylvania. 140 The
accuracy of this date seems even more implausible given that the
Supreme Court was in session. Further, the Court's inability to agree
on the contents of a letter that would recognize Roberts's service, and
Roberts's disgust with some members of the Court, make it unlikely
that Roberts would have traveled to the Court from Pennsylvania to
"give" Frankfurter this memorandum. 141 Furthermore, Roberts's cor-

139 I realize that this argument, based on my evaluation of Roberts's character, is the flipside
of the argument made by Griswold. See Griswold, supra note 86, at 347-49. Clearly, Roberts
wanted nothing to do with memorial tributes. In addition to his "judicial executor" letter of
1944, see supra note 86, Roberts wrote Frankfurter in November 1947 the following on the
back of an invitation to a memorial tribute to McReynolds:

Think of the lying and hypocracy [sic] that will be exhibited! I think I shall have nausea
from II to 4 on November 12th. I once reposed a trust in you [sic] I do not say you
betrayed that trust. I do say that, at the lowest, you miserably failed. I shiver when I
think that what is to happen to HFS [Harlan Fiske Stone] and J.C. McR. (McReynolds]
may happen to me. Shall I depend on you to forfeit it, or shall I write to the efficient
Marshal of the Court?

Note from Justice Owen Roberts to Justice Felix Frankfurter (Nov. x947), microformed on
Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 3.

140 Professor Friedman suggested to me that the genesis of the Roberts memorandum is
related to the disastrous attempt by Chief Justice Stone to write a valedictory letter on behalf
of the members of the Court to Roberts upon Roberts's resignation. The second paragraph of
the draft of this letter contained as the final sentence, "You have made fidelity to principle your
guide to decision." Draft Letter from Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone to Justice Owen J.
Roberts (no date), microformed on Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel
4. Justice Black refused to accept this sentence, which outraged Frankfurter. See Letter from
Justice Felix Frankfurter to Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone (Aug. 20, 1945), microforned on
Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 4. As a result, no letter was sent.
Frankfurter later sent a copy of the letters and Frankfurter's own file about this affair to Paul
Freund for Freund's history of the Hughes and Stone Courts. See Letter from Justice Felix
Frankfurter to Paul A. Freund, Professor, Harvard Law School (July 6, 1958) (on file at the
Harvard Law School Library).

I disagree with Professor Friedman for several reasons. First, Frankfurter's correspondence
to Freund in 1958 suggested that this episode showed why he denigrated Stone. It was not
given to Freund to defend Roberts. See id. Second, Frankfurter believed that this episode was
another example of Black's unfitness to serve on the Supreme Court. Nothing in Frankfurter's
1945 diary mentions the Roberts valedictory letter episode, but there is a note in that diary
concerning Black's refusal to recuse himself in the Jewell Ridge case, decided in favor of the
union because of Black's vote. See Jewell Ridge Coal Corp. v. Local No. 6167, United Mine
Workers of America, 325 U.S. 161, 161 (1945). Black's former law partner had represented the
union before the Court. See LASH, supa note 84, at 263-64. Third, there is neither a direct
nor an indirect attack on either Black or Stone in the Roberts tribute, which I would have
expected if there were a connection between the memorandum and the failed letter episode.
Finally, there is no statement in the tribute along the lines of, "He made fidelity to principle
his guide to decision."

141 Professor Philip Kurland, Frankfurter's clerk during the October 1945 Term, has informed
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respondence with Frankfurter mentions no meeting between the two
from October 1945 through January 1946.142 Additionally, Frank-
furter's correspondence with the editors of the University of Pennsyl-
vania Law Review makes it clear that the draft tribute sent to the
law review contained no information explaining the creation of the
memorandum. Only after an editor, prompted by some members of
the faculty, wrote Frankfurter that there was some "feeling that some
readers may be confused over when and why the memorandum was
written,"1 43 did Frankfurter add the information about the date of the
memorandum. 144 Finally, the original memorandum is apparently
lost. Roberts destroyed his papers; thus, a copy is not available

me that, to his knowledge, Roberts did not visit the Court during that Term. Telephone
Interview with Philip B. Kurland, Professor Emeritus, University of Chicago Law School (Dec.
3, 1993).

142 Further, I have found no memorandum from Roberts to Frankfurter of any sort dated
November 9, 1945, in the Felix Frankfurter Papers. Because that date fell on a Friday, it is
possible that Roberts traveled to Washington on that date to spend the weekend and met with
Frankfurter. The Frankfurter Papers contain letters from Roberts to Frankfurter dated July
16, 1945, July 28, 1945, August 6, 1945, August 30, '945, October 2, 1945, December 26, 1945
(2 letters), and January 12, 1946. None of these letters refers to any memorandum in any way.
See Letters from Justice Owen J. Roberts to Justice Felix Frankfurter (July i6, 1945; July 28,
1945; Aug. 6, 1945; Aug. 30, 1945; Oct. 2, 1945; Dec. 26, 1945 (two letters); Jan. I2, 1946),
microforned on Harvard Felix Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part I, Reel 3. In a
letter written to Justice Frankfurter and dated January 12, 1946, Roberts notes:

I've been to Washington quite often on Clemency Board and [???] and [???] Board
business; more often than not I go down on an early train and return the same day.
Once or twice I've spent the night at Elizabeth's house, but I've been on such a full
schedule that I've had no chance to see my friends. I'm looking forward to better luck
in the coming months.

Letter from Justice Owen J. Roberts to Justice Felix Frankfurter (Jan. 12, 1946), microformed
on Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part Im, Reel 3. This indicates, but does
not prove, that Roberts and Frankfurter had not seen each other for some time before the date
of the letter. It does appear, from the October 2, 1945, letter, that Frankfurter had visited
Roberts at Roberts's farmhouse at some time in September 1945, as he occasionally did before
returning to Washington for the opening of the Court's Term. See Letter from Justice Owen J.
Roberts to Justice Felix Frankfurter (Oct. 2, 1945), microformed on Harvard Frankfurter Papers,
supra note 78, at Part III, Reel 3.

143 Letter from Arthur W. Leibold, Jr., Article Editor, University of Pennsylvania Law
Review, to Justice Felix Frankfurter (Jan. i8, I956), microfoned on Library of Congress
Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Container 181. Indeed, Leibold erroneously thought that
the memorandum had been written by Roberts "shortly before he died with the express purpose
that it be published." Id.

144 See Letter from Justice Felix Frankfurter to Arthur W. Leibold, Jr., Article Editor,
University of Pennsylvania Law Review (Jan. 20, 1956), microformed on Library of Congress
Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Container 181. Frankfurter's response was, in pertinent
part:

The members of your Faculty are quite right and I am obliged to them for bringing me
to an explicit statement of the history and the date of the memorandum. I should have
done it in my original draft, but in an irrelevant kind of way I had a little feeling against
cluttering up a little piece like the one I wrote with the usual footnote apparatus.

Id. The date was, of course, not the only footnote in the tribute.

19941



HARVARD LAW REVIEW

through that collection. 145 In the mid-i96os, historian John Chambers
searched the Frankfurter Papers inconclusively for the original or a
copy of the memorandum.146 I have been unable to find the original
memorandum or a copy in my searches through the Frankfurter Pa-
pers. No one with whom I have spoken remembers ever seeing the
original memorandum. 147 The absence of the memorandum obviously

145 See LEONARD, supra note 86, at 184.

146 See John W. Chambers, The Big Switch: Justice Roberts and the Minimum Wage Cases,

io LABOR HIST. 44, 64 n.96 (1969). This footnote suggests that Chambers located the memo-
randum. The language is quite vague, however, and on close inspection, it appears that at
most what he found was a copy of something that seemed to be the memorandum. When I
located this note, I called the Library of Congress and asked them to send the document to me.
They were unable to find any such document in either set of Frankfurter papers. My research
assistant, Connie Liem, later traveled to the Library of Congress in an attempt to locate this
document. Again, with the assistance of the Library of Congress staff, no such document was
found. I have looked via microfilm through both sets of papers for this document without
success. I have found, however, a typescript copy of unsigned, undated material in the draft
of the tribute that is identical to the published memorandum. See Felix Frankfurter, Mr. Justice
Roberts 6-8 (no date) (unpublished draft), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter
Papers, supra note 78, at Container 181.

147 I have spoken with Judge Thomas O'Neill, at the time a clerk to Justice Harold Burton,
who apparently acted as an initial intermediary between Frankfurter and the University of
Pennsylvania Law Review, and he has no recollection of seeing the memorandum. Telephone
Interview with Judge Thomas O'Neill (May 24, x993). The editor-in-chief of the University of
Pennsylvania Law Review at the time, Curtis Reitz, now a Professor at his alma mater, also
has no recollection of ever seeing the Roberts memorandum, although he did recall that Frank-
furter was anxious to get the information it contained into print. Telephone Interview with
Curtis Reitz, Professor, University of Pennsylvania Law School (May 27, 1993). Article editor
Arthur Leibold, whose January 18, 1956, letter to Frankfurter led to Frankfurter's footnote
explaining the circumstances surrounding the creation of the memorandum, also has no recol-
lection of ever seeing the memorandum. Telephone Interview with Arthur W. Leibold, Jr.,
Dechert, Price & Rhoads, Washington, D.C. (June 1, 1993). Harvard Law School Professor
Andrew Kaufman, one of Frankfurter's two clerks during the October 1955 Term, did not work
on the tribute and thus does not recall seeing the Roberts memorandum. He does recall,
however, that Frankfurter worked on the tribute privately. Telephone Interview with Andrew
Kaufman, Professor, Harvard Law School (June 3, 1993). Frankfurter's other clerk for that
year, New York Law School Dean Harry A. Wellington, does not recall ever seeing the
memorandum or working on the tribute. Telephone Interview with Harry A. Wellington, Dean,
New York Law School (June 8, 1993). Professor Philip Kurland, Frankfurter's clerk during
the October 1945 Term, did not see the memorandum, although he further explained that this
information was not the type of information that Frankfurter would share with his clerks.
Telephone Interview with Philip B. Kurland, Professor Emeritus, University of Chicago Law
School (Dec. 3, 1993). Professor Richard D. Friedman, who has replaced the late Paul Freund
as the author of a history of the Hughes Court in the Oliver Wendell Holmes Devise History
of the Supreme Court of the United States, has stated that he has not located the Roberts
memorandum in Freund's files on the Hughes Court. Telephone Interview with Richard D.
Friedman, Professor, University of Michigan Law School (June i5, 1993).

The only possible note from Roberts to Frankfurter I have found that might relate to a
"switch" is a handwritten note by Roberts which states in its entirety, "I do realize it, and often
wonder why the hell I did it just to please the Chief!" Note from Justice Owen J. Roberts to
Justice Felix Frankfurter (no date), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers,
supra note 78, at Container 97. On the other side of this note is a handwritten note by
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prevents independent analysis of Roberts's views. The memorandum's
absence from the Frankfurter Papers also strikes me as odd, because
Frankfurter seemed at an early date to keep thorough records, even
of things that had much less historic importance.

Second, even if Roberts authored the memorandum printed in
Frankfurter's tribute, several factors cast doubt on the accuracy of its
contents. The tribute itself indicates that the memorandum was writ-
ten more than eight years after the crisis of 1937, after Roberts had
resigned from the bench, and after repeated requests from Frank-
furter. The memorandum was to be made public at Frankfurter's
discretion (likely only after Roberts's death), and contained two dis-
turbing factual errors. 148 If the memorandum was written in i945,
only three of Roberts's colleagues were alive - Hughes, McReynolds,
and Stone - and by September 1948, Roberts was the sole survivor
of the 1937 Court: therefore, no one was alive to question Roberts's
actions as detailed in the memorandum. In 1951, Hughes's "princi-
pled" explanation of the voting in West Coast Hotel was also publicly
available. 149

Frankfurter: "[To] O.J.R. I hope you now realize what a door you opened in your - shall I
say - much-discussed Butler decision as to scope of 'general welfare.'" Id. The cataloguers
estimated that this message was written in November 1940. Professor Friedman directed my
attention to another version of this statement by Roberts; it can be found as a liner note located
at page 66 of Volume 297 of a set of the United States Reports owned by Frankfurter and kept
in his home study. That page of the Reports contains a broad statement, written by Roberts,
of Congress's general welfare power in the case of United States v. Butler, 297 U.S. 1 (1936),
in which the Court declared unconstitutional the Agricultural Adjustment Act of 1933 as beyond
Congress's power to spend for the general welfare, see id. at 74-75. In Frankfurter's handwriting
appears the identical colloquy as quoted above. See id. at 66 (Felix Frankfurter's personal copy
in the possession of Andrew Kaufman, Professor, Harvard Law School; copy on file at the
Harvard Law School Library). If anything, these notes appear to support the belief that in
1936 Roberts was more firmly opposed to a broad interpretation of Congress's powers, and thus
to New Deal measures, than previously believed. It also supports the belief that Hughes
influenced the writing of Butler in a way that would later lead to a more congenial reception
by the Court to New Deal legislation. The dictum was used in 1937 by the new Court majority
in the Social Security Cases to construe Congress's power in a broad fashion. See Helvering
v. Davis, 301 U.S. 6rg, 640 (I937); Chas. C. Steward Mach. Co. v. Davis, 301 U.S. 548, 592-
93 (1937).

14s The Roberts memorandum erroneously indicates that the Washington Supreme Court in
West Coast Hotel had held that the minimum wage statute was unconstitutional. See Frank-
furter, supra note io, at 315. At the end of the memorandum, however, this error is corrected;
Roberts noted that the Supreme Court affirmed the lower court's decision in West Coast Hotel.
See id. The initial draft of the tribute did not contain Frankfurter's note on this mistake. See
id. at 315 n.*. The note was added to the tribute when Frankfurter edited it. See Frankfurter,
supra note 146, at 7. The Roberts memorandum also erroneously states that the constitutional
validity of the holding in Adkins was assailed in the papers before the Court when probable
jurisdiction was noted. See Frankfurter, supra note io, at 315. The only document before the
Court when it granted probable jurisdiction was the jurisdictional statement of the hotel, which
wanted the Court to decide based on Adkins and Morehead, not to overrule them. See Amended
Statement as to Jurisdiction at 13-14, West Coast Hotel (No. 293), supra note io8, at 9o-91.

149 Part of the typed version of Hughes's Biographical Notes, including Hughes's defense of
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Third, and maybe even more perplexing, is what the memorandum
does not contain, namely, an explanation for some of Roberts's other
votes in spring 1937.150 The memorandum does not speak of the
reasons for Roberts's votes with the majority in Jones & Laughlin
Steel and the Social Security Cases.i 15 As discussed above, 5 2 the
former, which broadly interpreted Congress's Commerce Clause
power, effectively overruled the 1936 case Carter v. Carter Coal Co., 153

his and Roberts's actions in deciding West Coast Hotel and Jones & Laughlin Steel, can be
found in the Frankfurter Papers. See Charles E. Hughes, Biographical Notes 26-28 (manu-
script), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Container
216.

150 This lacuna in the memorandum was noted in a letter by Professor Wallace Mendelson,

who corresponded with Frankfurter after publication of the Roberts tribute. Mendelson had
previously accepted the original history, as evidenced in a i95x book review of Hendel's
biography of Hughes. Mendelson wrote, "I remember (with the author) Hughes' letter to the
Senate, backed by a timely switch of position on the bench. That the letter and switch (along
with that of Mr. Justice Roberts) pretty certainly saved nine, is now generally conceded - and
one would have to be more na[i]ve than is permissible to suppose that Hughes intended
otherwise." Wallace Mendelson, Book Review, 45 AM. POL. SCI. REV. 570, 570 (1951) (review-
ing SAMUEL HENDEL, CHARLES EvAN HUGHES AND THE SUPREME COURT (1951)). After
publication of the Roberts tribute, Mendelson wrote Frankfurter, "[D]oesn't [Roberts's] concern
to be understood in the Minimum Wage cases imply a confession of 'guilt' for 'switching' in the
Commerce Clause cases?" Letter from Wallace Mendelson, Professor, University of Tennessee,
to Justice Felix Frankfurter (Mar. 15, 1956), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter
Papers, supra note 78, at Container 2o9. Frankfurter responded by explaining that his tribute
was intended to show that Roberts had not "switched" because of Roosevelt's court plan and
by claiming that the Commerce Clause decisions were not a reflection of a change in position
caused by the court-packing plan. See Letter from Justice Felix Frankfurter to Wallace Men-
delson, Professor (Mar. 19, 1956), microformed on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers,
supra note 78, at Container 209. Six weeks later Frankfurter wrote another letter to Mendelson.
He stated, "Roberts was specifically charged with having changed his position on a specific
issue, i.e., the validity of minimum wage legislation in the West Coast case, allegedly in response
to the President's 'Court-packing' plan. It is that specific, and what I would regard dishonorable,
change [sic] that I was repelling." Letter from Justice Felix Frankfurter to Wallace Mendelson,
Professor (May 4, x956), microforrned on Library of Congress Frankfurter Papers, supra note
78, at Container 209.

That Roberts would be accused of a "switch" with regard to a state law, and not with regard
to New Deal legislation, is not sensible, and in fact, Roberts and Hughes were accused by
scholars and others of switching with regard to both state and federal legislation. In his tribute
to Roberts, Griswold argued that Roberts's votes in Jones & Laughlin Steel and the Social
Security Cases were "fully explicable simply as a natural development of his views." Griswold,
supra note 86, at 345. Even Hughes, in his Biographical Notes, argues that the Court remained
independent from political considerations in both West Coast Hotel and Jones & Laughlin Steel.
See AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF HUGHES, supra note 81, at 312-13; see also PUSEY, supra
note 56, at 51-53 (discussing the change in position of Hughes and Roberts in West Coast Hotel
and Jones & Laughlin Steel). Frankfurter's focus on the narrowness of the criticism in his
explanation to Mendelson is thus wholly unsatisfactory.

151 See Chas. C. Steward Mach. Co. v. Davis, 301 U.S. 548 (1937); Helvering v. Davis,
301 U.S. 619 (1937). The court-packing plan was still alive in Congress when these cases were
decided on May 24, 1937.

152 See supra p. 629.
153 298 U.S. 238 (1936).
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in which Roberts had voted with the majority. The latter cases
distinguished into oblivion the opinion written by Roberts one year
before in United States v. Butler.'5 4 Additionally, the memorandum
never explains why Roberts failed to write a separate opinion in
Morehead. It offers instead a mea culpa. (Did the press of work
cause him to fall behind in his opinion-writing duties?)

C.

Frankfurter's handwritten comments, as well as his silence, in his
copy of Pusey's biography of Hughes cast further doubt on the sig-
nificance, if not existence, of the memorandum. These notes make
no reference to the existence of the memorandum, and Frankfurter's
hand-written comments are in fact quite critical of Roberts's actions.
Frankfurter underlined the following sentence in Pusey's biography,
which concerned Morehead: "But counsel for New York missed his
opportunity. ' Frankfurter noted, "Too dogmatic. Serious question
whether to call for overruling rather than differentiating.' 15 6 On the
same page, after underlining the sentence, "[Morehead's] reactionary
tone was very distasteful to Roberts," Frankfurter wrote further, "He
shouldn't have suppressed his own views by silence." 5 7 At the point
at which Pusey discussed the West Coast Hotel decision, Frankfurter
offered in the margin an explanation he used four years later in his
tribute to Roberts. Frankfurter's handwritten comment was, "In West
Coast Hotel [the] issue of overruling Adkins had to be faced [and]
Roberts had been ready to do that, but . . . wasn't asked in Ti-
paldo."158 From this note, it seems possible to conclude that Frank-
furter had discussed the minimum wage cases with Roberts. It re-
mains unclear, however, whether the liner notes were supposed to
become part of the effort to set the record straight, or whether they
were notes designed to present a plausible explanation of Roberts's
actions. Further, it seems odd that, in his personal copy of Pusey's
biography, Frankfurter's liner notes made no mention of a memoran-
dum that should have been in his possession for nearly six years.
Instead of marginalia criticizing Roberts's actions, a sympathetic reader
armed with a memorandum from Roberts himself probably would
have either ignored Pusey's interpretation or noted agreement with
Pusey's sympathetic treatment of Roberts. After all, Frankfurter be-

154 297 U.S. 1 (1936). This last "switch" has largely been ignored. But see Griswold, supra

note 86, at 345 (concluding that Roberts's votes in the Jones & Laughlin Steel and the Social
Security Cases were "a natural development of his views").

155 MERLO J. PUSEY, CHARLES EVANS HUGHES 701 (1951) (Frankfurter's personal copy),

inicrofortned on Harvard Frankfurter Papers, supra note 78, at Part Ill, Reel 39.
156 Id.
157 Id.

158 Id.
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